FILED
Court of Appeals
Division III
State of Washington
10/7/2021 4:53 PM

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 10/11/2021 BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

COA No. 378454 - III

100285-8

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

SHONTO PETE and MONIE TULLE, as individuals and on behalf of all others similarly situated,
Plaintiffs/Appellants/Petitioners

VS.

CITY OF AIRWAY HEIGHTS WASHINGTON; CITY OF CHENEY WASHINGTON, and TERRI COOPER and JOHN DOE COOPER and the marital community there of Defendant/Respondents

PETITION FOR REVIEW

CHAD FREEBOURN
WSBA #35624
ROBERTS | FREEBOURN, PLLC
1325 W. 1st Ave., Suite 303
Spokane, Washington 99201
(509) 381-5262
Attorney for Petitioners

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

The Petitioners are Shonto Pete and Monie Tulle, as individuals and others similarly situated. Petitioners are the Plaintiffs in the Spokane County Superior Court, and the Appellants in the Division III Court of Appeals. Petitioners' and Respondents filed cross motions for summary judgment on the issue of whether non-lawyer Terri Cooper is qualified to serve as a Municipal Court Commissioner in the Cities of Airway Heights and Cheney who both have populations in excess of 5,000 people.

The trial court denied Petitioners' motion for summary judgment and granted Respondents motion for summary judgment resulting in the dismissal of Petitioners' lawsuit. Petitioners appealed the trial court's rulings on summary judgment, and Division III upheld the trial court's summary judgment orders.

II. <u>CITATION TO COURT OF APPEAL'S</u> <u>DECISION</u>

Petitioner seeks review of Shonto Pete & Monie Tulle v.

City of Airway Heights & City of Cheney, 37845-4-III, 2021, WL

4060305, September 7, 2021, hereafter "Decision."

III. <u>ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW</u>

1. Whether RCW 3.50.075's reference to RCW 3.34.060 excludes the population requirement and allows a non-lawyer to serve as a Municipal and District Court Commissioner regardless of population.

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. <u>Background.</u>

Terri Cooper is, a non-lawyer, serving as the Municipal Court Commissioner in both the City of Cheney ("Cheney") and the City of Airway Heights ("Airway Heights"). **CP 209-212; 215-223.** Ms. Cooper has never attended law school, does not possess a law degree, and is not admitted to practice law in the State of Washington. **CP 209-212; 215-222.** Both Cheney and Airway Heights have populations that exceed 5,000 people, and

were aware Ms. Cooper was a non-lawyer when she was hired to serve as the Municipal Court Commissioner. <u>Id</u>. Ms. Cooper has taken and passed the qualifying examination for a lay candidate to serve as a judicial officer prior to January 1, 2003. **CP 211; 218; 227.**

In her capacity as the Municipal Court Commissioner, Ms. Cooper sentenced Petitioner Shonto Pete to serve 90-days in jail. CP 21. Ms. Cooper also found that Petitioner Monie Tulle had committed an offense and imposed a sanction. CP 21. Ms. Cooper took these actions despite not meeting the qualifications to serve as the Municipal Court Commissioner in Airway Heights and Cheney because she is a non-lawyer serving in municipalities with populations greater than 5,000 people. Airway Heights was aware that a non-lawyer, such as Ms. Cooper, could not serve as a Municipal Court Commissioner as the former Mayor of Airway Heights, Don Harmon, removed a sitting lay judge in 1997 because Airway Heights population was forecasted to exceed 5,000 people. CP 338-340. Despite

knowing its Municipal Court Commissioner must be lawyer due to its population greatly exceeding 5,000 people, Airway Heights hired Ms. Cooper to serve as a judicial officer. **CP 216-222.**

Petitioners, and other similarly situated, brought this action seeking damages as a result of Ms. Cooper violating their constitutional rights by taking their liberty and imposing financial penalties without the legal authority to do so under the law. Washington law requires anyone serving as a judge, commissioner, or pro tem judge to be a lawyer where the population is greater than 5,000 people¹.

B. Superior Court Procedural History

On June 26, 2020, the trial court considered cross motions for summary judgment. RP 5-6; CP 55-74; 75-83; 189-201; 202-228; 234-239; 318-334; 351-363; 392-396. The trial court noted there were no genuine issues of material fact regarding

¹ Municipal Court Commissioner (RCW 3.50.075); District Court Judge (RCW 3.34.060), Municipal Court Judge (RCW 3.50.404), District Court Commissioner (RCW 3.42.010) and Municipal Pro Tem Judge (RCW 3.50.090).

Terri Cooper being appointed as a Municipal Court Commissioner in both the City of Cheney and the City of Airway Height. **RP 17.** The trial court recognized that Ms. Copper was not a lawyer, she had taken and passed the qualifying exam for non-lawyer judges, and both cities had populations greater than 5,000 people. **RP 17.**

At issue on summary judgment was whether RCW 3.50.075(3) referenced the population requirement set forth in RCW 3.34.060(2)(b) for non-lawyer judges. RP 18. The Petitioners argued that RCW 3.50.075(3)'s reference to RCW 3.34.060 required the trial court to include the entire statute, or at least the entire sentence of RCW 3.34.060(2)(b) setting forth the requirements for a lay candidate for judicial officer. RP 18. RCW 3.34.060(2)(b) allows non-lawyers to serve as a judicial officer where the individual has passed the qualifying examination for non-lawyers prior to January 1, 2003 in districts with a population less than 5,000 people. Respondents, on the other hand, argued RCW 3.30.075(3) does not reference the

population requirement stated in RCW 3.34.060(b)(2). Respondents argued RCW 3.30.075(a) only intended to reference the portion of RCW 3.34.060(2)(b) appearing after the first comma in the sentence, which only refers to the requirement to pass a qualifying exam for a lay candidate for judicial officer. **RP 17-18.**

The trial court decided that RCW 3.50.075(3) only intended to reference the portion of the sentence appearing after the first comma in RCW 3.34.060(2)(b) referring to the qualifying exam for a lay candidate for judicial officer. RP 19-20. The trial court found the population requirement stated in RCW 3.34.060(2)(b) did not apply to a non-lawyer Municipal Commissioner. RP 19-20. Based on this interpretation of RCW 3.50.075, the trial court denied Petitioners' motion for summary judgment and granted Respondents' motion for summary judgment resulting in the dismissal of the Petitioners' lawsuit. RP 20.

C. Division III Decision.

The Petitioners appealed the trial court's decision to Division III because a reading of the plain language of RCW 3.50.075(3) and RCW 3.34.060(2)(b), related statutes, and applicable caselaw requires there be less than 5,000 people before a non-lawyer can qualify as a judicial officer in Washington. On September 7, 2021, Division III issued its Decision (the "Decision") upholding the trial court's rulings on summary judgment.

Division III analyzed the language of RCW 3.30.075(3) and its reference to RCW 3.34.060 and determined the population requirement for non-lawyer judges stated in RCW 3.34.060(2)(b) did not apply to Municipal Court Commissioners. Division III ignored the plain language of the statute, legislative intent, related statutes and prior rulings of the Washington Supreme Court requiring judicial officers to be lawyers where the population is greater than 5,000 people. The Decision allows non-lawyers to serve as a Municipal and District Court Commissioners regardless of population; meaning non-lawyers

may serve as Commissioners in Washington's most populated cities, such as Seattle, Spokane, and Tacoma.

V. ARGUMENT

A. Standard of Review.

The standard of review for trial court's order granting or denying a motion for summary judgment is *de novo*. McDevitt v. Harbor View Medical Center, 179 Wash.2d 59, 64, 316 P.3d 469 (2013). By filing cross motions for summary judgment, the parties concede there is no genuine issues of material fact. Pleasant v. Regence BlueSheild, 181 Wash. App. 252, 261, 325 P.3d 237 (2014).

Division III and the trial court committed err by determining the statutory population requirement for non-lawyer judicial officers does not to apply to Municipal and District Court Commissioners. The Supreme Court should accept review because the Decision is contrary to prior Supreme Court decisions, violates citizens constitutional rights, and involves issues of substantial public interest.

- B. The Decision is in Conflict with Prior Washington Supreme Court Decisions and Rules of Statutory Interpretation By Permitting a Non-Lawyer to Serve as a Judicial Officer Regardless of Population.
 - 1. The Decision is Contrary to Prior Decisions of the Washington Supreme Court Allowing Non-Lawyers to Serve as Judicial Officers Only in Sparsely Populated Areas.

To be a judicial officer in the State of Washington a person must be an attorney licensed to practice in this state, however, there is one limited exception. The exception is that a person who has taken and passed the qualifying examination for nonlawyer judges prior to January 1, 2003, may serve as a judicial officer in districts and municipalities with less than 5,000 people. See, RCW 3.34.060, RCW 3.50.040; RCW 3.42.010; RCW 3.50.090 & RCW 3.50.075. Contrary to the plain statutory language, legislative history and prior caselaw, the Decision allows non-lawyers to serve as Municipal and District Court Commissioners regardless of population. The exception allowing non-lawyers to serve as judicial officers has always been population based. See, Young v. Konz, 91 Wash.2d 532,

588 P.2d 1360 (1979); Shaw v. Vannice, 96 Wash.2d 532, 637 P.2d 241 (1981).

As the Washington Supreme Court stated, "[o]ur state system, which provides for nonattorney judges in small sparsely populated areas, only in misdemeanor and gross misdemeanor cases, with de novo review from All cases, unless review is voluntarily waived, clearly meets this standard." Young, 91 Wash.2d at 539. The Supreme Court ultimately upheld the validity of the statutes providing for non-lawyer judges based on the holding in North v. Russell, 427 U.S., 92 S. Ct. 2709, 49 L. Ed.2d 534 (1976), which "upheld the right of states to classify areas, establishing one system of courts for populated areas and another for rural areas." Young, 91 Wash.2d at 543. This is further emphasized by the decision in Shaw, where the Supreme Court discussed the requirements for Municipal Courts formed in accordance with RCW 3.50.010, and stated, "[a]ll judges of these municipal courts in municipalities having a population of 5,000 or more, however, must be attorneys." Shaw, 96 Wash.2d at 534.

Division III committed err by reading RCW 3.50.075's reference to RCW 3.34.060 to omit the population requirement for a Municipal Court Commissioner and allow non-layers to serve as a judicial officer regardless of population. The Supreme Court should accept this Petition for Review because the Decision is contrary to the prior decisions of the Supreme Court of Washington, discussed above, allowing non-lawyers to serve as judicial officers only in sparely populated areas of Washington. RAP 13.4(b)(1).

2. The Decision is Contrary To Prior Decisions of the Supreme Court and Appellate Courts Applying the Rules of Statutory Interpretation.

a. <u>Interpretation of Reference Statutes.</u>

The Decision performs judicial construction and limits the intent of the Legislature by excluding the population requirement for a non-lawyer commissioner. "A court is required to assume the Legislature meant exactly what it said and apply the statute

as written." HomeStreet, Inc. v. State Dept. of Revenue, 166 Wash.2d 444, 452, 210 P.3d 297 (2009), quoting, Duke v. Boyd, 133 Wash.2d 80, 87, 942 P.2d 351 (1997). Further, "[t]he referred statute must be read in context of the referring statute." Rivas v. Overlake Hosp. Medical Center, 164 Wash.2d 261, 267, 189 P.3d 753 (2008). A principle of statutory interpretation is "a reading that results in absurd results must be avoided because it will not be presumed that the legislature intended absurd results." State v. J.P., 149 Wash.2d 444, 450, 69 P.3d 318 (2003).

RCW 3.50.075 governs the appointment of Court Commissioners in Municipal Courts. RCW 3.50.075(3) states:

Except as provided in subsection (4) of this section, a commissioner has such power, authority, and jurisdiction in criminal and civil matters as the appointing judges possess, and must be a lawyer who is admitted to practice law in the state of Washington or a non-lawyer who has passed, by January 1, 2003, the qualifying examination for lay judges for courts of limited jurisdiction under RCW 3.34.060.

RCW 3.50.075(3) references RCW 3.34.060, this is what is known as a "reference statute." Knowles v. Holly, 82 Wash.2d 694, 700, 513 P.2d 18 (1973). Such cross references, "avoid encumbering the statute books by unnecessary repetition, and...are recognized in this state as approved method of legislation." State v. Weatherwax, 188 Wash.2d 139, 149, 392 P.3d 1054 (2017), quoting, Knowles v. Holly, 82 Wash.2d at 700. Courts are unanimous concerning the legal effect of a statutory reference, "[t]he precepts and terms to which reference is made are to be considered and treated as if they were incorporated into and made part of the referring act, just as completely as if they had been explicitly written therein." Knowles v. Holly, 82 Wash.2d at 700-701. "We consider the referencing statute to incorporate the text of the referenced provision completely, as if the two were one statute." Weatherwax, 188 Wash.2d at 149.

Under Washington law, since RCW 3.50.075(3) references the entirety of RCW 3.34.060, the two statutes must

be read as if they were one statute. <u>Id</u>. There is no limiting language in RCW 3.50.075(3) stating that only a portion of RCW 3.34.060 is to be referenced. RCW 3.34.060 states:

To be eligible to file a declaration of candidacy for and to serve as a district court judge, a person must:

- (1) Be a registered voter of the district court district and electoral district, if any, and
- (2) Be either:
 - (a) A lawyer admitted to practice law in the state of Washington; or
 - (b) In those districts having a population of less than five thousand persons, a person who has taken and passed by January 1, 2003, the qualifying examination for a lay candidate for judicial officer as provided by rule of the supreme court.

RCW 3.34.060 (emphasis added). The plain language of RCW 3.34.060(2)(b) specifically states that the qualifying examination to serve as a lay judge only applies in districts having populations of 5,000 or less. RCW 3.34.060(2)(b). By law, the population requirement stated in RCW 3.34.060 must be read into RCW 3.50.075 by reference, making it a requirement for the

municipality to have a population of less than 5,000 before a non-layer can be qualified to serve a lay Municipal Court Commissioner. Weatherwax, 188 Wash.2d at 149. To read the two statutes together otherwise would be to render the population requirement set forth in RCW 3.34.060(2)(b) meaningless and render a clause, sentence and words superfluous, void, or insignificant contrary to rules of Washington statutory construction. Kasper, 69 Wash.2d at 804.

The Decision concludes the reference to RCW 3.34.060 by RCW 3.50.075(3) only refers to the language that already appears in RCW 3.50.075, adding no additional language to RCW 3.50.075(3). Omitting the reference to the population requirement renders the reference to RCW 3.34.060 meaningless and superfluous, contrary to the rules of statutory interpretation.

State v. Dennis, 191 Wash.2d 169, 173, 421 P.3d 944 (2018).

Reading RCW 3.50.075(3) consistent with the Decision, you simply get the same language repeated:

RCW 3.50.075(3) - a nonlawyer who has passed, by January 1, 2003, the qualifying examination for lay judges for courts of limited jurisdiction under RCW 3.34.060.

RCW 3.34.060(2)(b) - <u>a person who has taken and passed by January 1, 2003, the qualifying examination for a lay candidate for judicial officer as provided by rule of the supreme court.</u>

RCW 3.50.075(3) & RCW 3.34.060(2)(b). It is only when the first part of the sentence of RCW 3.34.060(2)(b) is added does the reference make logical sense:

In those districts having a population of less than five thousand persons, a person who has taken and passed by January 1, 2003, the qualifying examination for a lay candidate for judicial officer as provided by rule of the supreme court.

RCW 3.34.060(2)(b)(emphasis added).

The Supreme Court should accept this Petitioner for Review because the Decision does not follow the rules of statutory interpretation and creates new law allowing non-lawyers to serve as a Municipal and District Court Commissioner regardless of population. RAP 13.4(b)(1) & (2).

b. The Decision is Contrary to Other Similar Statutes Requiring a Population Less than 5,000 for a Non-Lawyer to Serve as a Judicial Officer.

"A provision's plain meaning may be ascertained by an examination of the statute in which the provision at issue is found, as well as related statutes or other provisions in the same act in which the provision is found." Drebick, 156 Wash.2d 289, 295, 126 P.3d 802 (2006) quoting, Campbell & Gwinn, 146 Wash.2d 1, 10, 43 P.3d 4 (2002)(internal quotations omitted). "Reference to a statute's context to determine its plain meaning also includes examining closely related statutes, because legislators enact legislation in light of existing statutes. State Dept. of Ecology v. Campbell & Gwinn, LLC, 146 Wash.2d 1, 11, 43 P.3d 4 (2002). Looking at the related statutes and provisions within the same act, the population requirement of less than 5,000 people applies to Municipal Court Commissioners.

Under RCW 3.50. *et. seq*, a judicial officer is defined as a judge, judge pro tempore, or court commissioner. RCW 3.50.045(3). RCW 3.50.040 sets forth the requirements to be a Municipal Court Judge and provides in pertinent part:

A person appointed as a full-time or part-time municipal judge shall be a citizen of the United States of America and of the state of Washington; and an attorney admitted to practice law before the courts of record of the state of Washington: PROVIDED, That in a municipality having a population less than five thousand persons, a person who has taken and passed by January 1, 2003, the qualifying examination for a lay candidate for judicial officer as provided by rule of the supreme court may be the judge.

RCW 3.50.040 (emphasis added). RCW 3.50.090 sets forth the requirements to be a Municipal Judge Pro Tem:

The qualifications of a judge pro tempore shall be <u>the same as for judges as provided under RCW 3.50.040</u> except that a judge pro tempore need not be a resident of the city or county in which the municipal court is located.

RCW 3.50.090(emphasis added). The requirements to be a Judge Pro Tem references RCW 3.50.040; making it a reference statute. Knowles v. Holly, 82 Wash.2d 694, 700, 513 P.2d 18

(1973). Pursuant to RCW 3.50.090 non-attorneys can only serve as Municipal Judge Pro Tem where populations are less than 5,000 people.

Pursuant to RCW 3.50.075(3) a Municipal Court Commissioner:

must be a lawyer who is admitted to practice law in the state of Washington or a nonlawyer who has passed, by January 1, 2003, the qualifying examination for lay judges for courts of limited jurisdiction under RCW 3.34.060.

RCW 3.50.075(3). Rather than adding the population language appearing in RCW 3.50.040 within the same act, RCW 3.50.075(3) makes reference to RCW 3.34.060, which contains the exact same population requirement. RCW 3.34.060(b)(2) reads:

In those districts having a population of less than five thousand persons, a person who has taken and passed by January 1, 2003, the qualifying examination for lay candidate for <u>judicial officer</u> as provided by rule of the supreme court.

RCW 3.34.060(2)(b)(emphasis added).

When evaluating a statute, courts apply the last antecedent rule: "unless a contrary intention appears in the statute, qualifying words and phrases refer to the last antecedent." City of Spokane v. County of Spokane, 158 Wash.2d 661, 673, 146 P.3d 893 (2006), quoting, Berrocal v. Fernandez, 155 Wash.2d 585, 593, 121 P.3d 82 (2005). "[T]he presence of a comma before the qualifying phrase is evidence the qualifier is intended to apply to all antecedents instead of only the immediately preceding one." Id. The presence of comma is evidence of the intent for the population requirement to apply to all antecedents that follow. <u>Id</u>. If the legislature intended RCW 3.50.075(3) to reference only a portion of RCW 3.34.060, it would have stated the intention to disregard the population requirement and only refer to the qualifying examination appearing after the qualifying comma. Application of the antecedent rule clearly shows the Decision's limited reading is contrary to statutory interpretation.

Both RCW 3.50.040² and RCW 3.34.060(b)(2) use the term "*judicial officer*," which is defined as a judge, judge pro tempore, or court commissioner. RCW 3.34.110(3). Looking at similar statutes and provisions the population requirement applies to all judicial officers. RCW 3.34.060, RCW 3.50.040; RCW 3.42.010; RCW 3.50.090 & RCW 3.50.750.

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