FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
11/8/2021 2:50 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

Supreme Court No. 100285-8 SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

SHONTO PETE et al., Plaintiffs /Petitioners,

v.

CITY OF AIRWAY HEIGHTS WASHINGTON; CITY OF CHENEY WASHINGTON, et al.,

Defendants/Respondents

RESPONDENTS' JOINT RESPONSE TO PETITIONERS' PETITION FOR REVIEW

Attorneys for Respondent City of Airway Heights Stephen M. Lamberson, WSBA #12985 Megan C. Clark, WSBA #46505 Etter, McMahon, Lamberson, Van Wert & Oreskovich, P.C. 618 W. Riverside Ave., Suite 210 Spokane, WA 99201

Attorneys for Respondents Cities of Airway Heights & Cheney
Timothy Lawlor, WSBA #1632
Casey Bruner, WSBA #50168

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

² The trial court's dismissal of these issues was not raised on appeal and are settled. *See Weyerhaeuser Co. v. Commercial Union Ins. Co.*, 142 Wn.2d 654, 693, 15 P.3d 115 (2000) (emphasis in original) ("Only issues raised in the assignments of error ... and *argued* to the appellate court are considered on appeal.").

dismissed Petitioners' remaining claims. **CP 472-476.** The Court of Appeals, Division III, affirmed the trial court's ruling, stating, "[w]e will not override a statue's plan (sic) meaning based on policy preferences." *Pete*, 2021 WL 4060305, at *2.

IV. <u>ARGUMENT</u>

A. <u>Petitioners' Petition for Review Does Not Meet the</u> Requirements of RAP 13.4(b).

Petitioners' fail to address or discuss how their Petition meets any of the strict requirements of RAP 13.4. Nor do Petitioners present any specific basis or bases that would support discretionary review by this Court. In Section III of their Petition for review, Petitioners simply restate the same issue that was before the Court of Appeals.

As discussed in detail throughout this brief, the Petition fails to specify how Petitioners' meet RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2), (3), or (4). Importantly, a petition for review will be accepted by the Supreme Court *only if* one of the four criteria in RAP 13.4 is clearly met. RAP 13.4(b). Specifically, Petitioners do

not provide this Court a basis to accept review under RAP 13.4(b)(1) or (b)(2) as they fail to identify any specific decision of the Supreme Court or Court of Appeals with which the Decision in this case conflicts and in what manner the Decision conflicts. See RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2); see also State v. Taylor, 140 Wn.2d 229, 235, 996 P.2d 571 (2000) (Court granting review to resolve conflict between Division I and Division II). Next, Petitioners fails to provide a basis for this Court to accept review under RAP 13.4(b)(3) by asserting there is a "significant question of law" under either the Washington or U.S. Constitution, but failing to state what that question of law is. Further, Petitioners do not actually or affirmatively request this Court review the Decision pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(3). Finally, Petitioners fail to provide an avenue for review under RAP 13.4(b)(4) as they fail to provide the requisite showing that the Petition involves an issue of substantial public interest. Petitioners appear to argue that the Decision warrants review under RAP

13.4(b)(4) in Section C; however, much of this section is focused on legislative history, and does not describe any "substantial public interest" that must be determined by the Supreme Court. In fact, the majority of the Petition for Review reargues the same issues that were decided by the Court of Appeals. Petitioners have failed to demonstrate review is appropriate under any provision of RAP 13.4(b).

B. Review Must be Denied as the Decision Does Not Conflict with Supreme Court or Court of Appeals Precedent and Review under RAP 13.4(b)(1)-(2) is Inappropriate.

Review under RAP 13.4(b)(1) or (2) is not appropriate as the Decision does not conflict with any prior Supreme Court or Court of Appeals decisions, but is in fact consistent with the same. At issue in this case is the interpretation of RCW 3.50.075, which states, in full:

Court commissioners – Appointment – Qualification – Limitations – Part-time Judge.

(1) One or more court commissioners may be appointed by a judge of the municipal court.

- (2) Each commissioner holds office at the pleasure of the appointing judge.
- (3) Except as provided in subsection (4) of this section, a commissioner has such power, authority, and jurisdiction in criminal and civil matters as the appointing judges possess, and must be a lawyer who is admitted to practice law in the state of Washington or a nonlawyer who has passed, by January 1, 2003, the qualifying examination for lay judges for courts of limited jurisdiction under RCW 3.34.060.
- (4) On or after July 1, 2010, when serving as a commissioner, the commissioner does not have authority to preside over trials in criminal matters, or jury trials in civil matters unless agreed to on the record by all parties.
- (5) A commissioner need not be a resident of the city or of the county in which the municipal court is created. When a court commissioner has not been appointed and the municipal court is presided over by a part-time appointed judge, the judge need not be a resident of the city or of the county in which the municipal court is created.

Petitioners contend RCW 3.50.075(3) requires nonlawyer municipal court commissioners to fulfill two requirements: (1) pass the "qualifying examination for lay judges for courts of

limited jurisdiction under RCW 3.34.060" and (2) work in a district with fewer than 5,000 people. "Contrary to the arguments made [by Petitioners], RCW 3.34.060 does not graft a population requirement into RCW 3.50.075." Pete, 2021 WL 4060305, at *2. Petitioners' contentions are erroneous and should be rejected. By its plain language, the statute at issue – RCW 3.50.075 – specifically incorporates only the first requirement, and intentionally omits any population limit or requirement with respect to nonlawyer municipal court commissioners. The prior decisions correctly concluded that Commissioner Cooper was duly appointed and properly granted and affirmed the Cities' Motions for Summary Judgment. See Pete, 2021 WL 4060305, at *3. These decisions should not be disturbed.

1. There is No Population Limit Applicable to Non-Lawyer Municipal Court Commissioners, and Commissioner Cooper was Lawfully Appointed.

RCW 3.50.075 is the controlling statute for the appointment, qualification, and limitations of Municipal Court Commissioners, and states, in relevant part:

- (1) One or more court commissioners may be appointed by a judge of the municipal court.
- (2) Each commissioner holds office at the pleasure of the appointing judge.
- (3) Except as provided in subsection (4) of this section, a commissioner has such power, authority, and jurisdiction in criminal and civil matters as the appointing judges possess, and must be a lawyer who is admitted to practice law in the state of Washington or a non-lawyer who has passed, by January 1, 2003, the qualifying examination for lay judges for courts of limited jurisdiction under RCW 3.34.060 ...

RCW 3.50.075 (emphasis added). RCW 3.34.060, the statute referenced in RCW 3.50.075(3), entitled "District Judges – Eligibility and qualifications", states:

To be eligible to file a declaration of candidacy for and to serve as a *district court judge*, a person must:

- (1) Be a registered voter of the district court district and electoral district, if any; and
- (2) Be either:

- (a) A lawyer admitted to practice law in the state of Washington; or
- (b) In those districts having a population of less than five thousand persons, a person who has taken and passed by January 2, 2003, the qualifying examination for a lay candidate for judicial officer as provided by rule of the supreme court.

RCW 3.34.060 (emphasis added).

RCW 3.50.075(3) is a reference statute in that it adopts, by reference, the part of RCW 3.34.060 that relates to the "qualifying examination" that a district court judge must also take. As a reference statute, "[t]he terms referred to, and only those terms, must be treated as if they were incorporated into the referring act" or statute. *Int'l Export Corp. v. Clallam Cnty.*, 36 Wn. App. 56, 57-58, 671 P.2d 806 (1983) (citing *Knowles v. Holly*, 82 Wn.2d 694, 513 P.2d 18 (1973)). The express mention of one thing in a statute implies the exclusion of another thing or things. *Ramsey v. Dep't of Labor and Indus.*, 36 Wn.2d 410, 412-13, 218 P.2d 765 (1950).

When interpreting a statute, the Court's fundamental objective is to determine and carry out the legislature's intent.

See In re Det. of Anderson, 185 Wn.2d 79, 85, 368 P.3d 162 (2016). "When possible, [the court] derive[s] legislative intent solely from the plain language enacted by the legislature, considering the text of the provision in question, the context of the statute in which the provision is found, related provisions, and the statutory scheme as a whole." State v. Evans, 177 Wn.2d 186, 192, 298 P.3d 724 (2013). In determining legislative intent, the "title of the act is always a subject for consideration because the subject or object expressed in the title fixes a limit to the scope of the act." State v. Lundell, 7 Wn. App. 779, 782, 503 P.2d 774 (1972). When interpreting statutes and regulations, courts are not required to abandon their common sense. Allison v. Housing Auth. of City of Seattle, 118 Wn.2d 79, 86, 821 P.2d 34 (1991).

When applying the above well-settled principles and cannons of statutory interpretation to this matter, the statute plainly states that a non-lawyer is qualified to act as a municipal court commissioner if he/she passes, by January 1, 2003, the

same qualifying examination taken by lay district court judges as required in RCW 3.34.060. Chapter RCW 3.50 is entitled "Municipal Courts - Alternate Provisions" and deals exclusively with Municipal courts. Contained within this Chapter, RCW 3.50.075 is titled "Court Commissioners - Appointment - Qualification - Limitations - Part-Time Judge," and addresses the appointment, qualifications, and authority of municipal court commissioners. Alternatively, Chapter 3.34 RCW governs District Judges and their qualifications.

RCW 3.50.075 states that a non-lawyer is qualified to act as a municipal court commissioner as long as he or she passes, by January 1, 2003, the same qualifying examination taken by a lay district court judge as required in RCW 3.34.060. Critically, the reference made in RCW 3.50.075(3) to RCW 3.34.060 pertains exclusively to the *examination* lay municipal court commissioners are required to take. By its plain language, RCW 3.50.075 does not subject lay municipal court commissioners to

the population restriction applicable to lay district court judges found in RCW 3.34.060.

Here, Commissioner Cooper took and passed the qualifying examination for lay judges for courts of limited jurisdiction before January 1, 2003. **CP 85, ¶ 3.** Accordingly, under the plain language of RCW 3.50.075, she has, at all material times, been qualified to be a municipal court commissioner in the City of Cheney and the City of Airway Heights. The Decision and underlying trial court ruling in this regard was correct.

Petitioners contend that the reference to RCW 3.34.060 in RCW 3.50.075(3) subjects lay municipal court commissioners to both the examination and the population limitation referenced in RCW 3.34.060(2)(b). The Court should reject this argument. First, and importantly, this contention is contrary to the plain language of RCW 3.50.075(3) which refers only to the "qualifying examination" that must be taken by lay judges for district courts and does not reference the district population

restriction contained in RCW 3.34.060(2)(b). See TracFone Wireless, Inc. v. Washington Dep't of Revenue, 170 Wn.2d 273, 284, 242 P.3d 810 (2010) (holding where one statute refers to another for specific issue or point, the reference is restricted to that issue or point); see also Ramsey, 36 Wn.2d at 412-13 (the express mention of one thing in a statute implies the exclusion of another). Division III correctly recognized this misguided interpretation of the reference of RCW 3.34.060 in RCW 3.50.075(3). Pete, 2021 WL 4060305, at *2 ("The problem with this argument is it runs counter to the statutory text.").

If a statute "is unambiguous after a review of the plain meaning, the court's inquiry is at an end." *Lake v. Woodcreek Homeowners Ass'n*, 169 Wn.2d 516, 526, 243 P.3d 1283 (2010). Petitioners have not argued that the language of RCW 3.50.075 is ambiguous. Therefore, Petitioners' arguments and discussions of legislative history are not pertinent to this Court's interpretation.

However, when reviewing other comparable statutes, the legislature has previously and explicitly *included* population limits. *See* RCW 3.34.060 (District Court Judges); RCW 3.50.040 (Municipal Court Judges). There is no similar population limit in RCW 3.50.075. When "the legislature uses certain statutory language in one statute and different language in another, a difference in legislative intent is evidenced." *State v. Roggenkamp*, 153 Wn.2d 614, 625, 106 P.3d 196 (2005). Courts "assume that the legislature meant precisely what it said and apply the statute as written." *Id*.

Petitioners rely on several cases to argue that the limited "qualifying examination" reference in RCW 3.50.075(3) incorporates <u>all</u> of the text of RCW 3.34.060(2)(b) – even the parts that have nothing to do with the qualifying examination. These cases are distinguishable and Petitioners' reliance upon the same is misplaced. Further, Petitioners' assertions that these cases are somehow contradicted by the Decision in this case, necessitating review under RAP 13.4(b) must fail.

In *State v. Weatherwax*, 188 Wn.2d 139, 392 P.3d 1054 (2017), the Court affirmed the opposite principle. In *Weatherwax*, the Court held that the proper interpretation of the statute at issue (RCW 9.94A.589(1)(b)), directed a court to consider *all* of a referenced statute because, unlike here, RCW 9.94A.589(1)(b) referenced <u>all</u> of the referenced statute without limitation. In this case, the reference to RCW 3.34.060 is clearly limited to the "qualifying examination" and not all other parts of that statute.

Petitioners also rely upon *Young v. Konz*, 91 Wn.2d 532, 588 P.2d 1360 (1979), but in doing so, fail to mention that *Young* concerned the constitutionality of statutes permitting a non-lawyer to serve as a district court judge in districts with a population of less than 10,000 (RCW 3.34.060) and as a municipal court judge in municipalities with a population of less than 5,000 (RCW 3.50.040). Notably, in rejecting the constitutional challenge, the *Young* court repeatedly emphasized that, unlike appellate court and superior court judges, under the

state constitution the qualification of inferior court judges is strictly a matter for the legislature to determine. Petitioners' reliance upon Shaw v. Vannice, 96 Wn.2d 532, 637 P.2d 241 (1981) is similarly misplaced. Like in Young, the Court looked solely at legislative enactments as determining the qualification of district and municipal court judicial officers. In focusing on RCW 3.34.060(2)(b), the *Shaw* court held the statute permitted a non-lawyer district court judge to preside over cases involving the violation of a municipal ordinance even though the City of Sunnyside had a population exceeding 5,000, thus refuting the Petitioners' assertions that all statutes addressing the ability of a non-lawyer to act as a judicial officer are population-based. These decisions are not contradictory to the Decision in this matter, and review under either RAP 13.4(b)(1) or (2) is inappropriate.

Reading RCW 3.50.075(3) and RCW 3.34.060 "as though they were one statute," as Petitioners' insist this Court must do, would lead to an absurd result. There are fundamental

differences between the statute and purposes of the statutes that do not comport with Petitioners' arguments. RCW 3.50.075(3) sets forth the qualifications of a municipal court commissioner. RCW 3.34.060 sets forth the qualifications of a district court judge. Under the latter statute, a district court judge must be a registered voter of the district court and electoral district, and further, district court judges are elected. But under RCW 3.50.075, commissioners are appointed by the judge of the municipal court, hold office at the pleasure of the appointing judge, and need not be a resident of the city or county in which the municipal court is created. In short, if both statutes were read together in their entirety, as Petitioners assert they must be, the statutes would directly conflict. Petitioners' interpretation of the applicable statutes is not only strained but does not comport with the basic tenets of statutory construction. "Contrary to the arguments made [by Petitioners], RCW 3.34.060 does not graft a population requirement into RCW 3.50.075." Pete, 2021 WL 4060305, at *2. The Decision in this matter was appropriate and in accordance with the statutes' plain language. Review under RAP 13.4(b) should not be accepted.

C. Review Should be Denied as Petitioners Have Not Complied with RAP 13.4(b)(3).

Preliminary, it must be noted that Petitioners do not specifically request this Court accept review under RAP 13.4(b)(3), and, in fact, that Rule is not referenced anywhere in the Petition. Nevertheless, Petitioner argues that a question of law exists under the U.S. and State Constitutions in Section D of the Petition.

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